
 

 

  St. Albans City Council 
Minutes of Meeting 

Monday, July 13, 2020 
City Hall, Council Chambers 

 

A regular meeting of the St. Albans City Council was held on Monday, July 13, 2020, at 6:30 pm via 
remote teleconference.  

 

Council Present:  Mayor Tim Smith; Aldermen: Michael McCarthy, Jim Pelkey, Chad Spooner and Tim 
Hawkins & Alderwomen: Marie Bessette and Kate Laddison.  

Council Absent: None absent.  

Staff Present: Dominic Cloud, City Manager; Chip Sawyer, Director of Planning & Development; Curry 
Galloway, City Clerk; Tom Leitz, Director of Administration; Marty Manahan, Director of Public Works, 
Operations & Business Development; Paul Talley, Police Department; Ben Couture, Police Department; 
Maurice Lamothe, Interim Police Chief and Andrew Gratton, Recreation Programs Manager.  

Visitors: Angie Sturm, Tanner McCuin, Zach Scheffler, Jeff Sharp, Casey Robert, JoAnn Bechard, Josh 
Curtis, Shaina Lussier, Mike Hoeflich, Michelle Monroe, Alice Johnson, Kate Larose, Reier Erickson, James 
Levy, Nilda Gonnella‐French, Theresa Lussier, Barbara Finch, Kris Lukens, Max Thrust, Jonathan Giroux, 
Mary Johnson, Brendan Deso, Mareesa Miles, Kate Bailey, Marianne Hunkins, David Glidden, William 
Bressette, Theresa (no last name), Karlie Gunderson, William Sawyer, Zac Nuse, Peter DesLauriers, Jan 
Appel, Pam McCarthy and Katie (no last name).  

 
 
 

1. Executive Session re: personnel matters and civil litigation. 
a. The Council finds that premature disclosure of real estate acquisition opportunities could 

compromise the City or person involved (D&V).  
A motion was made by Alderman Spooner; seconded by Alderman Hawkins to find that 
premature disclosure of the above matters would compromise the City or person involved. Vote 
was unanimous, 7‐0.  
 

b. The Council moves to enter Executive Session for purposes of discussing real estate acquisition 
opportunities where premature disclosure could compromise the City or person involved (D&V).  
A motion was made by Alderman Spooner; seconded by Alderman Hawkins to enter Executive 
Session for purposes of discussing real estate acquisition opportunities where premature 
disclosure could compromise the City or person involved. Vote was unanimous, 7‐0.  

 

A motion was made by Alderman Hawkins; seconded by Alderman Spooner to exit Executive 
Session. Vote was unanimous, 7‐0.  
 

2. Convene Open Session with Pledge of Allegiance.  
Mayor Smith called the meeting to order at 6:38 pm and led the pledge of allegiance.  
 

3. Recess for Liquor Control.  
A motion was made by Alderman Spooner; seconded by Alderwoman Laddison to recess for liquor 
control. Vote was unanimous, 7‐0. 
 

4. Public Comment re: Police Transformation. 
Zach Scheffler from Lake Street introduced himself. He expressed disappointment in the MRI 
presentation and felt there was a very dismissive attitude by the MRI consultants. He was not 
encouraged that their opinions would be informed by a wide variety of advisory boards. He would love 



 

 

to see something that the City of Plattsburg and Barre are doing which is to create a Civilian Oversight 
Committee with voting power. The committee would investigate complaints and act on hiring and police 
practices.  
 

William Sawyer expressed support of the City Police Department. He asked council to consider the fact 
that if a particular maneuver such as a choke hold is prohibited, it may be putting that officer in danger. 
He stated that if council makes being a police officer in St. Albans so restrictive, it will limit the applicant 
pool.  
 

Tanner McCuin stated that he was also excited to see that there was a real effort to make some reforms 
happen but what he saw at the MRI meeting last week felt more about PR and less about involvement 
with systemic racism. He would like to see the City take up a lot of the recommendations of ACLU of 
Vermont.   
 

Reier Erickson expressed frustration with the MRI meeting. He was disappointed that the consultants 
were made up of four white men that were former police. Their only goal is not to be critical of the past 
or current actions of the police department but simply to adjust the hiring practices. MRI suggested the 
real engagement that the citizens of St. Albans have in this process would be to vote and that police 
would engage with the public in the future. He commented that that doesn’t feel like real engagement. 
Today Governor Phil Scott signed S.219, an act relating to racial bias and excessive force and asked for 
more items, one of which were models of community oversight for law enforcement agencies and is 
something that MRI scoffed at. He believes it is necessary and past due and urged the council to take up 
that cause and implement.  
 

Mary Johnson attended the MRI meeting and agreed that it felt like it added more layers to the problem 
and would like to see more community oversight so that residents feel like they have a safe place to file 
their comments and complaints.  
 

Marianne Hunkin expressed similar sentiments and stated that she’s deeply disappointed with the City’s 
contract with MRI. She felt at times the panel was dismissive, defensive and patronizing in response to 
questions regarding transparency and accountability that could be afforded by a civilian oversight 
advisory board. She found it problematic that the MRI board is a group of white men with a law 
enforcement background. She called on the Mayor and City Council to implement a civilian oversight 
committee with voting power that meets regularly to advise the City Council and police department.  
She reiterated that this has also been called on today by the Governor, the ACLU and the State’s 
Attorney General. Ms. Hunkin stated that the problems with the department are not new and date back 
decades. She urged council to not look at the instances of violence as situational or temporary but to see 
them as embedded in the fabric of the institution of policing in the City.  For this reason, she believes it’s 
important to be very critical of the St. Albans police department as an institution so that less harm and 
violence happens in the City. She also urged council to figure out non‐police solutions to situations 
involving mental health crises, addiction and similar situations that don’t need an armed officer to 
respond to.  
 

Mareesa Miles expressed the same sentiment as the other speakers.  
 

Kris Lukens, Director of Voices Against Violence, explained that they have a great relationship with the 
police department. She thinks this a time that everyone can look at things differently and transform the 
work of law enforcement in general and have the opportunity to move things forward. She would be 
honored to be a part of any committee formed.  
 

Kate Bailey, a resident of the City and legal advocate for Vermont Legal Aid, introduced herself. She 
urged council to not move forward with any plans of police reform without a civilian oversight board. 
The police transformation road map in its current draft does not reflect the real change needed to keep 



 

 

our community safe and would not be a good use of the taxpayer’s dollars. She expressed 
disappointment in the contract with MRI and believes a civilian oversight board with voting power and 
the power to investigate, review and advise is a necessary first step towards real transformation of the 
community’s public safety. Our neighbors who are disabled and struggle with mental illness and 
substance abuse and who are black, indigenous people of color are telling us the solution to this 
problem. We have the knowledge and know the answers and know that police budgets have been 
growing for years and that has had little change in crime rates. We know that SRO’s discipline students 
of color and with disability at alarmingly high rates and we know that the use of force is being abused.    
 

Kate Larose noted that on June 15th, the City Council released a statement on policing and proceeded to 
read the statement aloud. As a City resident, she is asking that council makes good on this promise to 
actively confront systemic racism and implicit bias within all aspects of City government. She stated that 
this morning the Vermont ACLU wrote a letter to City Council outlining three proposed changes to the 
police department’s policies and a ten point plan for police transformation in Vermont including specific 
recommendations for St. Albans. She is requesting that the City Council adopt these in full. Additionally, 
she would like the council to provide an update on when the de‐escalation training will be rescheduled 
and when the requested two years of use of force incident data will be made available to the public.  
 

Jim Levy, a resident and business owner in the community introduced himself. This morning he became 
aware of a very offensive poster that appeared on a tree near his office which read, “Jews rape kids and 
run to Israel to hide.” He believes there is a systemic problem in the City. He believes everyone has the 
right to free speech but the problem is that we as a community should have an appropriate response 
mechanism. He is proposing to identify the individual(s) responsible for posting this hate crime and try 
to educate them. If they are not susceptible to that, he feels the community has the right to know who 
the individual(s) are and would propose a fund established to RJC or another entity to offer reward 
money leading to the disclosure of the persons responsible. He is not suggesting that whoever did this 
should be criminally prosecuted but should have the right to know who is doing this sort of hate in the 
community.  
 

Jeff Sharp stated that recent calls to at least partially defund the St. Albans police department are short 
sighted and believes such efforts endanger public safety and will do little to advance the cause of any 
racism. The street crime unit has done a lot to reduce crime and has improved the quality of life in St. 
Albans. He believes the recent use of force issue should be played out and heard but any improvements 
suggested won’t be able to be implemented if funding is reduced.  
 

Angie Sturm expressed disappointment with the MRI presentation and believes the place to begin will 
be to create a community advisory board with voting power. She likes the idea of citizens receiving 
complaints about police and working with people to resolve their problems. She believes we need to 
find non‐city police solutions for problems that don’t require police. She believes that all members of 
the community, including students, have a need for ongoing aggressive racism training. Systemic racism 
in particular is something she has been working on for a long time and takes a lot of hard work. She 
believes the community needs the ability to get together to work these problems out.  
 

Brendan Deso stated that the Town has had a Police Advisory board for several years which reviews 
policies periodically and makes sure the contract with outside policing services providers are enforced in 
full. The citizen advisory board doesn’t have the vested authority to handle something as transformative 
as an update to as many policies MRI will be getting into. He noted that at the MRI presentation there 
was a call for some key stakeholders in the community to be included in the St. Albans police 
department’s hiring process. He doesn’t believe a citizen advisory board with a vague voting power 
makes sense. He stated that the council already acts as a citizen advisory board, representing the City in 



 

 

its entirety, and called in a group of expert law enforcement officers to review practices and policies that 
they find to be a problem.  
 

Peter DesLauriers believed the meeting with MRI was a fantastic move in the right direction and doesn’t 
believe we need citizens reviewing day to day operations. He believes that we should let leaders lead 
and leave the expertise to them.  
 

Mayor Smith thanked everyone for sharing. He stated that this isn’t going to be done overnight and will 
be an ongoing process and continue to work toward the goal of making the City better with a strong 
police department.  
 

5. Consider Adoption of Police Transformation Road Map (D&V). 
Mr. Cloud stated that he could have done a better job of managing expectations. MRI was contracted in 
April and was intended to address issues that the City was facing at that time vs. the national discussion. 
The intent of the document is to respond to the concern that MRI didn’t issue a report, didn’t issue ten 
recommendations and there wasn’t a checklist that the public and City Council can use to hold the 
department accountable. This transformation roadmap grows out of the effort to eliminate excessive 
force. It is based on staff’s analysis of where the problem originates and is designed to provide a road 
map going forward as to how to respond to those changes and is designed to be a dynamic document 
that is updated frequently. Mr. Cloud proceeded to read aloud the Police Transformation Road Map. 
(Please See Attached Police Transformation Road Map).  
 

Mr. Spooner stated that he thinks there should be a chief’s advisory council. He would like to see them 
do the review of policies and thinks it’s good for an outsider to review policies. It will improve the 
policies and procedures. He would also like to see the use of force incidents reviewed. He envisions that 
this committee would make recommendations to the Police Chief in terms of hiring and have the Chief 
bring those recommendations to the City Council. Mr. Spooner explained that it’s going to help our 
department stay ahead of the curve.  If we want transparency, it’s going to involve citizen engagement 
and shouldn’t be a tough step to make. He would like to see equity and racism training for staff and 
would like to beef up animal control so officers aren’t getting involved in that work. Mr. Spooner stated 
that he would like the committee to include two citizens at large, two business owners, two non‐profits, 
the Chief and one other person. He doesn’t believe the City Council should be a part of this committee.  
 

Mr. McCarthy echoed Mr. Spooner’s desire for a community advisory panel and is inclined to have some 
elected official be on the panel. He would like to have a deeper conversation about how the police 
department should work and allow an opportunity for more citizen engagement and think it should be 
part of the road map and added to it. He also expressed disappointment with MRI’s presentation and 
agreed that some people had the expectation that it was going to address systematic racism. He 
believes there were a number of problematic things said by the MRI panel during their presentation. (I 
think he mentioned something about using inclusive language and pronouns).  
 

Mr. Pelkey stated that he’s always been an advocate for community involvement and believes a citizen 
advisory panel would be a great first step. He agreed with Mr. Spooner and Mr. McCarthy’s sentiments. 
He agreed that the animal control officer should be local.  
 

Ms. Laddison asked Mr. Cloud how much time needs to be spent wordsmithing pieces of the road map 
and asked how dynamic it needs to be. Mr. Cloud responded that it can be as dynamic as the Council 
wishes it to be. Ms. Laddison stated that she would prefer to just move forward and get some work 
done. She understands that there is a lack of trust between the community and the police department 
and the keys to fixing that is transparency and accountability. She agreed that having citizen overview in 
some form is important. Ms. Laddison stated that she is pleased with the roadmap and that the council 
will get standing updates from the Police Chief. She believes it’s a good thing that so many are 



 

 

passionate about the community and this is an opportunity to make real changes. She’d like to see 
everyone come together to seize the opportunity to make real change.  
 

Mr. Spooner stated that he would like to hear from someone from the VT Racial Justice Alliance or from 
the Governor’s Equity Committee. Mr. Pelkey agreed that a standing item on the monthly agenda for 
police updates is much needed. Mr. McCarthy noted the S.219 bill that was mentioned earlier in public 
comment which makes it illegal for any police in the State of Vermont to use chokeholds that restricts 
breathing or blood flow. He stated that these are State and national efforts.  
 

Mayor Smith stated that council can adopt the current road map with the understanding that it is fluid 
or continue discussions for an advisory committee and asked Mr. Cloud what his thoughts are. Mr. 
Cloud stated that his advice would be to adopt the roadmap and council’s request for a committee but 
believes we need to get some legal advice to see how far we can go without amending the City charter. 
The City Charter provides that City Council deals with staff through the City Manager and the Police 
Chief reports to the City Manager. He expressed concerns about eroding the form of government and 
believes a legal opinion is needed. He gave the example of someone filing an excessive force complaint. 
Under the policy, it would be investigated independently by an expert. If an expert says one thing and a 
citizen committee maybe concurs or doesn’t, he noted how that would affect the relationship between 
the Chief of Police and the City Manager. Mr. Cloud stated that he has tried to take as much 
responsibility as possible for the hiring practices of the department but doesn’t think there’s evidence 
that officers haven’t been held accountable.  
 

Mr. Pelkey stated that he understands what the City Manager’s form of government is and doesn’t think 
anyone is suggesting that council wants his role removed in this. The advisory group suggested by Mr. 
Spooner is different from the oversight group that others have suggested with voting power. Mr. 
Spooner asked when Mr. Cloud could get legal advice. Mr. Cloud asked what specifically the legal advice 
is being requested for. Mayor Smith stated that there have been no decisions as far as what the makeup 
of a committee would look like. Mr. Spooner responded that he would like legal advice on a citizen’s 
advisory board to the Police Chief. Mr. McCarthy stated that what he took away from the discussion is 
that an advisory board would be consultative and not deliberative and if there are any policy changes 
needed, there may be a recommendation from a citizen’s advisory panel but would ultimately be the 
decision of the City Council. He’s not looking for having a body of people that are going to have the 
power to directly contradict the will of the council.  
 

Mayor Smith stated that he would like to continue to pursue the MRI recommendations. His suggestion 
is to entertain a motion to adopt the road map. The advisory committee will be a discussion that can be 
revisited at a later time. Mr. Hawkins asked Mr. Cloud if there’s anything he would change in the 
roadmap after what he’s heard tonight. Mr. Cloud responded that he would leave the road map as is 
and ask for permission to work with council via email to generate a question to submit to legal counsel 
that reflects the sentiments discussed.  
 

A motion was made by Alderman Hawkins; seconded by Alderman Spooner to adopt Police 
Transformation Road Map presented by the City Manager. Mr. Spooner state that he would like to 
have information from the ACLU added to the document as well as a citizen’s advisory board under the 
transparency section. Mr. Hawkins agreed that council received a lot of information tonight and would 
have liked to have this discussed in person as a live presentation. Mr. Pelkey stated that he is not ready 
to approve the road map tonight because he received it shortly before the meeting began and didn’t 
have time to fully review it. Ms. Laddison stated that she is not ready to approve this tonight without 
considering the formation of a citizen advisory committee of some kind which is what the community 
wants. Ms. Bessette agreed that she would like to look at the document further as she just received it 
today. Mr. McCarthy stated that there are a lot of great things in this document but our neighbors are 



 

 

looking for a little more voice and input. He would like the opportunity for more community voice 
before voting on it. Mr. Hawkins withdrew his motion and Mr. Spooner withdrew his second.  
 

A motion was made by Alderman Hawkins; seconded by Alderman Pelkey to table the adoption of the 
police transformation road map to a time when it can be discussed in‐person, with an option for call‐
in. Vote was unanimous, 7‐0. 
 

6. Police Department Report, Interim Chief Lamothe.  
 

a. Overview of embedded crisis worker program 

Chief Lamothe stated that he is excited to be in this position. The NCSS project started about 6 years 
ago in the St. Albans police department. This program provides an embedded crisis intervention 
specialist which is a collaboration between NCSS and police departments and fully funded by NCSS. 
Their primary focus is to go with and assist police professionals on calls that involve people in crisis. 
The goal on the police end is to bring a mental health specialist to the scene to reduce the police 
time on the scene of calls and have someone readily available to provide continued services and a 
follow up plan that may be needed. Chief Lamothe stated that this collaboration has been the best 
resource he’s seen in his 20+ years with the State Police.  

 

b. Update on de‐escalation training 

Chief Lamothe stated that de‐escalation training will begin tomorrow for half of the department and 
on Thursday for the second half. It’s a full day of training conducted by experts which will discuss 
critical decision making, crisis recognition and response, tactical communication, operational safety 
tactics, reviews of critical response and integration of practice. Chief Lamothe explained that this 
training will be instrumental and everything should start with verbal skills. There will also be online 
classes for crisis communication throughout the month of August that all officers will attend.  

 

c. Current Initiatives 

Mr. Lamothe noted that a lot of the current initiatives revolve around MRI’s recommendations and 
one of the biggest initiatives he would like to see rolled out is community policing. The best way to 
do that is talking with people and being out in public. Mr. Lamothe stated that the department is 
already involved in community policing on many levels. Administratively, the department is looking 
closer at the way evaluations are conducted, the promotional processes and are engaged with MRI 
to look at policies. He noted that MRI is COLEA standard which is a very high bar and that kind of 
experience is irreplaceable.  
 

Ben Couture agreed with Chief Lamothe and looks forward to moving forward. Paul Talley reiterated 
what Chief Lamothe said and has been reviewing performance evaluations and are getting back to 
quarterly assessments of how officers are performing with an annual performance review. It is a 
work in progress and they have a lot on their plate but are working toward a common goal.  
 

Mr. Spooner asked Chief Lamothe how citizens currently make complaints about police officers. 
Chief Lamothe responded that every complaint is documented and investigated with a follow up. It 
can be done by phone or in person and includes an anonymous complaint as well. Mr. Spooner 
asked if RJC can be involved to work on an issue and keep the judiciary piece out of it. Chief Lamothe 
responded that typically, everything would channel through the State’s Attorney office. Mr. Spooner 
asked how often the department relies on the Restorative Justice Center. Chief Lamothe responded 
that at his last agency, everything that was done through RJC filtered through the State’s Attorney 
office first. Mr. Pelkey noted the embedded NCSS mental health worker program and asked if they 
could go to a call without an officer. Chief Lamothe stated that historically, an officer would attend 
because they are responsible for that person but could do follow up work independently.  

 

7. Request for Public Art Wall.  



 

 

Chip Sawyer stated that there has been a discussion about a public art wall in the City for a while and 
are proposing an art wall in Houghton Park. They’ve heard from the Parks Commission and SACA that 
they’d like something more prominent eventually. More permanent locations suggested are the 
southwest corner of Taylor Park, the temporary construction fence at the Congress & Main project and 
in front of City Hall.  
 

Mr. Sturm introduced himself on behalf of Angie Sturm. In looking at Swanton Art Council’s website 
many beautiful, colorful art images have sprung to life and believes St. Albans would benefit from a 
public art wall. Andrew Gratton explained that Ms. Sturm felt very strongly about the public art wall and 
the general consensus from the commission is favorable. Mr. Sawyer provided some comments on the 3 
locations suggested and is concerned about City Hall because there isn’t a good location without it 
blocking other things. He suggested looking at Taylor Park as a more prominent location, taking sight 
lines into consideration. Mr. Sawyer stated that there will probably be problems with this art wall at 
some point and will trigger further discussion.  
 

Mr. Spooner stated that he thinks this is a great idea and suggested that some locations near the 
museum might also work and will support local talent’s work.  Mayor Smith agreed with Mr. Spooner 
and believes the art walls are very valuable to the community. He doesn’t believe the front of City Hall 
would be a good location with the activity of pedestrian crossing. He thought the green space by Food 
City or the foot of the interstate access road would also be viable locations. Ms. Laddison supported the 
idea and hopes safety is taken into consideration and would like to find a visible location. Mr. McCarthy 
fully supported the idea.  
 

8. Mayor’s Report. 
Mayor Smith noted that this Saturday is the car show. Cathy Manahan has recruited 50 cars which will 
do a parade throughout the City and the Town. He thanked Cathy for all her work putting this event 
together. He encouraged everyone to go online and vote for their five favorite photos for the Mayor’s 
Photo Competition which will be displayed in Taylor Park.  
 

9. Councilor Reports. 
Mr. McCarthy thanked Public Works for cleaning up some hate speech in front of the passport building 
immediately. He also thanked the Chief and commanders who showed up tonight and for the work 
they’re doing.  
 

Mr. Hawkins stated that there are still some poles down in the shopping center. He also noted that 
some of the vacant buildings in the City don’t have to look the way they look. Mr. Manahan stated that 
he can reach back out to Ernie Pomerleau and requested a list of any blighted properties he’d like to 
have included in PHSO. He would also like to move these meetings back to City Hall.  
 

Mr. Spooner stated that the art on the electrical boxes downtown are fantastic. The tractor trailer traffic 
on Lower Welden and South Elm has almost disappeared. He would like to know how many absentee 
ballots the Clerk has received. He did receive a request from a resident to have mandatory face masks in 
the City. He received a complaint about the sidewalk near the tracks. Mr. Manahan stated that he can 
reach out to Jim Cota and get back to him.  
 

Ms. Laddison noted that the truck traffic is way down on Upper Welden Street as well.  
 

10. Consider approval of meeting minutes: Regular Meeting: 6/8/20 (D&V). 
A motion was made by Alderman Spooner; seconded by Alderwoman Bessette to approve 6/8/20 
regular meeting minutes with grammatical corrections. Vote was unanimous, 7‐0. 

11. Consider approval of warrants: 6/15/20 & 6/30/20 (D&V). 



 

 

A motion was made by Alderman Hawkins; seconded by Alderman Pelkey to approve 6/15/20 
warrants. Vote was unanimous, 7‐0.  

A motion was made by Alderman Hawkins; seconded by Alderman Pelkey to approve 6/30/20 
warrants. Vote was unanimous, 7‐0.  

12. Adjourn 
A motion was made by Alderman Pelkey; seconded by Alderman Spooner to adjourn meeting at 8:57 
pm. Vote was unanimous, 7‐0.  
 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
 
Kristen Smith 

Community Relations Coordinator 

 

 


